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(In this introductory essay I have anglicized the names of kings (Charles III, not Carlos III) but not others (Juan de Villanueva, not John). I have rendered ‘La Virgen de’ as ‘Our Lady of’. Spanish words frequently used are: calle (street); Conde (Count); convento (nunnery or monastery); Duque, Duquesa (Duke, Duchess); Marqués, Marquesa (Marquis, Marchioness); palacio (palace); paseo (walk or promenade); plaza (square); and puerta (gate). The numbers in square brackets dotted about the Introduction indicate the extract which illustrates the point made, e.g. [No. 22].)
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In the summer of 1561, King Philip II travelled from Toledo, the ancient Visigothic capital of Spain, and established his court in Madrid. His father, the Emperor, Charles V, who had died three years before, at the Jeronomite monastery of Yuste in the Gredos mountains, nearly 150 miles west of Madrid, had advised Philip to make a stationary court, not the nomadic one which he had himself had, in common with the Spanish kings of the Reconquista. The Spanish Empire, the most ambitious political enterprise which the world had seen since the fall of Rome, needed sound administration: a capital to which despatches could be sent regularly, and where they would be at hand. King Philip had won his French wars, had married the French princess Elizabeth (not Elizabeth of England, as he had proposed), and needed to settle down. When a few years later one of his admirals offered to conquer China for him, if only he could receive another 20,000 men, Philip was unenthusiastic. Not for nothing was he called the prudent king.


King Philip had good reasons for choosing Madrid. Although some of its best known citizens had sided with the Comuneros in their revolt against his father in 1520, Madrid had not toyed with heresy, as Valladolid, the city most favoured by his great-grandparents, Ferdinand and Isabella, had done. Madrid had an immense royal fortress or Alcázar (‘Al-Cassar’) built by the Moors, rebuilt after a fire in the fifteenth century by King Henry IV of Castille and embellished by Charles V [Nos 104–118]. That edifice had been much used as a court by kings of Castille in the fifteenth century. It had served as a prison for King Francis I of France after his defeat at the battle of Pavia in 1525. Though still unappealing to Renaissance eyes, the Alcázar could be made into a centre of administration. Philip also thought it right that ‘so great a monarchy should have a city fulfilling the function of a heart located in the middle of the body’*; and Madrid, though certainly central, was not, as Toledo was, under the day-to-day control of the city’s Archbishop, the Cardinal Primate of the country: an advantage, since even prelates carefully appointed by painstaking monarchs (such as Philip) often developed habits of independence: Archbishop Guillermo de Croÿ had begun a long battle in 1518 against the building of a cathedral in Madrid – a struggle successfully maintained till the nineteenth century. Toledo, too, though clearly a great city, was marked by a mass of small steep alleys through which monarchs and noblemen could pass only slowly: in Madrid there were some fine straight streets, the central artery being the line of an old cañada, or walk for transhumant sheep. The Emperor Charles, whose heroic life of struggle for the unity of Christian Europe meant so much to his son, had always liked Madrid, since he had there been cured of a special variety of malaria: an achievement which he attributed to the ‘agreeable and healthy site’ and the ‘fertile soil and abundant water’*. Madrid, being 696 metres high, was drier than Toledo (529 metres). It was also green, more so than now, with many huertas or orchards and vegetable gardens outside the walls. There was good hunting – boar, bear and wolf – in the nearby oakwoods of El Pardo [No. 225], the ‘dun-coloured’ estate to the north, which the Emperor Charles had also used in the 1540s. He had built a small palace there, on the site of a much older hunting-lodge turned by Henry IV into a castle during the fifteenth century. These pleasures made the capital’s modern coat of arms appropriate at the time: a bear climbing an oak tree. Henry IV had used Madrid a good deal. Bad king though he had been, it had been he who had first called Madrid by its famous style, ‘muy noble y muy leal: very noble and loyal’.


The plan to take the court to Madrid was one of the few decisions taken by a King who was always, in the words of Dr Gregorio Marañón, ‘permanently in a state of hesitation and had no optimistic or expansive moments’. It was a fateful choice, which has for ever after affected, and surely weakened, Spain and perhaps, through example, the entire Spanish world. For Madrid, unlike other capitals of Renaissance Europe, such as London and Paris, or Vienna and Amsterdam, had no navigable river. All goods, therefore, had to be carried to it by land, mostly by mule, at great expense. The two-line report of a young English diplomatist in 1697 to London may, therefore, be the most significant of all in this book, even if it concerned only precious metals [No. 8]. It was only when railways were laid in the 1830s, motor-roads in the early 1900s, and with aviation in the 1950s, that the benefits of a centrally placed capital could be seen. Until then, Madrid was merely an administrative capital. Heart of the country though it was geographically, heart too of an empire which stretched from Peru to the Philippines, Madrid bred a population ignorant of business. The bureaucrat Pez, in the nineteenth century in the novel La de Bringas by Benito Pérez Galdós, the greatest of Madrid’s novelists, is only a slight caricature: ‘He was always saying ‘‘we must have more administration’’ but it was preaching in the desert. All the public services had gone to the dogs. He himself had an ideal which he always kept in front of him – but how could it be realized? His ideal was the perfect administrative system, with eighty or ninety ministries.’ There should be ‘no manifestation of the national life which escaped the wise tutelage of the State’*. Pez was an authentic heir of Philip II, not only a typical madrileño, but a characteristic man of the Spanish Empire. In the sixteenth century, the only people to know anything of commerce in Madrid were the Genoese banker friends of the soon-to-be ruined royal favourite, Antonio Pérez.


Alongside such civil servants as Pérez and Pez, there soon followed the churchmen, the servants, the noblemen, the place-hunters, the providers of food and wine, and the thieves: particularly, at first sight, at any time between the sixteenth and the early nineteenth century, the first: Ramón de la Cruz, the inspired memorialist of eighteenth-century Madrid, has a character in one of his charming playlets known as sainetes [e.g. No. 176], say, ‘The capital has more churches than homes, more priests than laymen, and more altars than kitchens; even in the entrances of the filthy houses, even in the vile taverns, small paper altar pieces can be seen, along with a medley of wax articles, small basins of holy water and religious lamps. One can hardly take a step without meeting some brotherhood in procession, or an assemblage of people reciting the rosary as they march, or hear the brayings of the subchanters and the sacred jargon of the musicians entertaining devout souls with villancicos, couplets in praise of Our Lady . . . Even the most recondite and venerable mysteries of religion are chanted by blind men at doors of taverns to the pleasant and majestic accompaniment of the guitar. Every corner is covered with announcements of novenaries, and, at every corner, accounts of miracles are sold as credible as Ovid’s Metamorphoses’*.


An exaggeration? A French traveller, Jean-François de Bourgoing, wrote that these sainetes, performed in the intervals of more pretentious plays, were not pictures of life but ‘the thing itself’.


The liveliness of Madrid’s low life was equally persistent. The picaresque novels of the sixteenth, and early seventeenth, centuries show both the energy and ingenuity of the innumerable rogues (pícaros) [see No. 41] who came hopefully to the court from all over Spain in those days, and whose descendants have contributed such vigour to the more southern quarters (barrios bajos) of the capital ever since. ‘The first thing you’ve got to know is that in Madrid you can find all types, half-wits and very sharp minds, the very rich and the very poor,’ the hero of Quevedo’s El Buscón is assured.


We gain a vivid glimpse of this creative low life in the late eighteenth century from the paintings of Goya of the manolos or majos and manolas or majas of the district of Lavapiés. Majo and maja simply mean ‘dashing’ or ‘sharp’ or ‘smart’, when used as adjectives; while manolo and manola perhaps derive from a sainete of de la Cruz, called Manolo, subtitled A Tragedy for Laughing or a Comedy for Crying [No. 77]. They indicate young men and girls of poor origin who challenged convention by stylish if extravagant dress and behaviour. Lavapiés was the centre of popular hostility to foreign (particularly French) influence. By use of private language and customs, those who lived there set up a private domain, almost impossible for outsiders to penetrate. This world of ‘manolería’ was not only self-sufficient. It influenced the conduct and dress of aristocrats, such as the brilliant, charming, restless Duquesa de Alba [Nos 99 and 100]. The inter-relation between masters (and mistresses) and servants was always specially free in Madrid, as another French traveller Beaumarchais discovered in 1764 and drew from his experience there the basis for his famous plays The Marriage of Figaro and The Barber of Seville, for so long considered politically subversive. It will be recalled that it was in the Prado of Madrid that Count Almaviva first caught sight of Rosina, according to the last of these two plays.
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In 1561, Madrid was a hill town with a population of between 20,000 and 30,000. It was not a city (ciudad) but a mere town (villa): if not as lowly as a mere pueblo. In comparison, cities such as Toledo and Seville had 80,000 each and Valladolid 50,000. Madrid was easily defended from the west and south but not from the north as would become evident in both the War of the Spanish Succession and the Napoleonic Wars. To the west, a slope from the Alcázar ran sharply down, across what has since the eighteenth century been known as the Campo del Moro (after the Arab king Tejufin who camped there while he besieged Madrid in 1109) to the River Manzanares: a waterway at that time less impressive than it is today [Nos 220–223]. To the east, a lesser slope led to a brook which meandered along what is now the Avenida de Castellana and the Paseo del Prado. These waterways met in the south a third one (which also for a time ran north-south, further to the east, beyond what is now the Retiro Park) at Vallecas. Within the town, there were – are – several hills; once, even ravines, in one of which, in the Calle Arenal (a word which means ‘sandpit’), near the present church of San Ginés, a Christian community had lived, in caves, outside the walls of Muslim Madrid. (From the Manzanares to the Royal Palace, there is a rise of 200 feet, and to the site of the royal tapestry factory outside the gate of Santa Bárbara another rise, of 170 feet.)


Madrid (despite Moorish attacks in 1109 and 1197) had in the 1560s been a Christian city for nearly five centuries. Several hundred ‘Saracens’, however, lived there in the sixteenth century, not far from the Alcázar, in the quarter still known as the ‘Morería’. In addition to the Alcázar, several buildings dating from Muslim days probably survived in 1561: for example, the undistinguished main parish church, Santa María de la Almudena (built near the Almudín or Alhondiga, the Moorish corn exchange), at the west end of what is now the Calle Mayor, may have been reconstituted from a mosque to house Our Lady of la Almudena, an effigy said to have been hidden in the ancient walls throughout the Muslim occupation. This last story seems to be a myth. Madrid was almost certainly founded as ‘Magerite’ (which meant ‘running waters’ in Arabic) by the Arabs. Stories which give this capital a Visigothic or Roman past owe more to piety than to history. There is no evidence that there was once, on the site, a settlement known to Rome as ‘Mantua’ – or ‘Mantua Carpentanorum’, to distinguish it from the Italian city. The first historical record of Madrid apparently dates from the ninth century, when it was ruled by the Emir Muhammad I of Córdoba. The remains of Arab walls in what is now the Cuesta de la Vega have recently been dug up. The line along which those walls ran is easily identifiable [see De Wit’s map of Madrid, illustration section]. It suggests that the city doubled in size, as probably in population also, between its capture by King Alfonso VI of Castille in 1083 and 1561.


Most inhabitants of Madrid in 1561 lived in single-storey, whitewashed houses made of brick and adobe similar to those still to be seen in many Castillian small towns [No. 85]. Although modern Toledanos would laugh at the idea, the view of Madrid from a distance would have looked in 1561, as the picture by the Flemish painter Anton van Wyngaerde suggests [see illustration section], rather as the historic centre of Toledo now does. Among the houses within the walls, a dozen parish churches and as many conventos stood out as the only buildings of any height apart from the Alcázar. These edifices had, as a rule, square brick towers, being mostly built by mudéjar architects (that is, by Arabs who had stayed on into Christian Madrid rather than fled, as many had done in 1083, through the Calle de la Cava Baja, a street whose old purpose as a ditch outside the town is still obvious to the naked eye). Two parish churches, San Salvador, opposite the present Plaza de la Villa, and Santa Cruz, near what is now the Foreign Ministry, had such high towers of this kind that they were known as the atalayas (watchtowers), ‘of the city’ and ‘of the Court’ respectively. An impression of what most churches of Madrid looked like in 1561 can be gained from visiting the surviving churches of San Pedro and San Nicolás de los Servitas. Both have fine, elegant, medieval towers, which some romantics (of a different generation to that which found a ‘Mantua’ in Madrid) believed once served as mosques. Both are probably mudéjar, and of the twelfth century. The finest Gothic tower was the most recent: the Renaissance chapel of the Bishop of Palencia, next to the old parish church of San Andrés, which was only finished in 1550.


The needle-like slate-tiled Flemish towers which became such a characteristic of Habsburg Madrid had not then appeared. Nor were there yet any domes in imitation of the Pantheon in Rome or the Duomo in Florence, such as the Jesuits would later favour. The Jesuits had, however, already founded a college in Madrid, and the new grand convento of Descalzas Reales (‘Barefooted Royals’) had just been begun by Philip II’s aunt, ex-Queen Juana of Portugal, on the site of a house where her brother Charles V had used to stay and where she herself had been born, near the older Benedictine nunnery of San Martín [No. 194]. But they were old-fashioned buildings. There were four hospitals, all attached to conventos. Noblemen’s houses were concentrated round the Plaza de la Paja (strawmarket), an old sloping square overshadowed by the church of San Andrés, which had been the main market in medieval Madrid [No. 83]. The finest of these houses was the Casa de Cisneros, in the Plaza de la Villa (still visible, as part of the expanded Town Hall [No. 138]). Next to it stood, and stands, the Torre de los Lujanes, belonging to an Aragonese family; in one of whose shabby upper rooms King François I of France is said to have been held prisoner for a few days in 1525. Some of these structures, including the hospital-monastery of La Latina built in 1504 on the orders of Beatriz Galindo, chief lady-in-waiting to Isabella the Catholic (in the Plaza de la Cebada [No. 81]), were by Moorish architects.


The walls of 1561 left much to be desired from a military point of view. They were probably complete, with 130 towers, but were mostly adobe, with about six stone gates. There was already much building outside them. This included the large establishments of several religious orders. Thus, since 1523, the Dominicans had had, in the south-east, their sanctuary dedicated to Our Lady of the Atocha (perhaps a corruption of ‘Antioch’, where its painting of the mother of Christ was said to have been found, after being completed by St Luke in her lifetime [No. 187]. There was a Benedictine monastery of San Martín founded by St Dominic of Silos, to the north. There were the Jeronomites, to the east, with their church of San Jerónimo el Real. St Dominic de Guzmán had in person founded the nunnery of Santo Domingo el Real in 1218 [No. 182] while the Franciscans had been established to the south-west by St Francis, though he seems to have been too ill to visit Madrid personally during his stay in Spain in 1213–1214 [No. 183]. These conventos were the focus for whole new suburbs outside the walls, for they were able to communicate with Madrid through small gates (portillos). Those who lived from service to these foundations soon became citizens. Another suburb, with a different origin, had grown up near what is now the Plaza de Lavapiés [Nos 76–78]: the ghetto, or Judería, of Madrid, which several hundred inhabitants had abandoned after 1492, optimistically taking with them the keys of houses in the expectation of eventual return.


The centre of this Jewish population had been the street rechristened, to exorcize it, the Calle de la Fe (Street of Faith), (where the villain in Pérez Galdós’s novel Tormento later had his filthy flat). Their synagogue had been on the site of what is now the undistinguished church of San Lorenzo in the Calle de San Cosme y San Damián. In this quarter, too, perhaps because there were empty sites, as a result of the Jewish emigration, the Duque de Alba had built a large palace in the 1540s. St Teresa of Ávila (whose own blood was far from ‘pure’) would sometimes stay there [No. 98]. Its site is still just identifiable in the street called after the Duque.


The extension of the walls to embrace these suburbs was King Philip II’s first action in Madrid; the disused Puerta de Guadalajara disappeared in 1570, and the ‘Puerta’ del Sol (about whose name’s origins there is controversy [No. 51]) was also taken down, in 1580. Madrid’s eastern entry was moved to the present Plaza de Cibeles, where a new Puerta de Alcalá was built. It became the main gate of the capital, where customs duties were levied. These new walls were still only of adobe. Further expansion soon made even them out of date. Travellers from abroad continued to have the impression that, in comparison with say, Rome or Vienna, or Toledo or Seville, the capital of the ‘most Catholic king’ had no walls.


Madrid was still more medieval than Renaissance. Sheep and pigs, horses and cows, roamed in the streets. For two more centuries after 1561 pigs belonging to the monastery of San Antonio Abad were legally allowed to run wild in the streets, since that saint was the patron of animals. The monks and others abused this privilege. This added to the dirt for which Madrid’s streets were, till a decree of Charles III in 1761, notorious. But some [No. 2] thought the air recovered automatically.
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Philip II did not build much in Madrid. He may not have been quite certain that his capital would be always there. The drive of his strong narrow imagination was fixed on the Augustinian monastery of San Lorenzo, which he had ordered Juan Bautista de Toledo, trained in the other Spanish imperial capital of Naples, to build, thirty miles away, in 1562, at the village of El Escorial, in honour of his victory over the French at Saint Quentin on San Lorenzo’s day in 1558. The monastery could be reached in three hours ‘post-haste’. Still, what Philip did inspire in Madrid was important: there was the Puente de Segovia, the first stone bridge over the River Manzanares, built by Juan de Herrera (who in the end carried through the works at El Escorial) to take the place of a rickety, much repaired wooden crossing. Most of those who tried to depict Madrid either by painting or by the new technique of engraving in the next few generations did so to show the city from beyond this low, knobbly but stylish (and still in 1987 serviceable) crossing. (Engraving was little practised in Spain till the eighteenth century.) There was the reconstruction, also by Bautista de Toledo, of the ‘Casa de Campo’, on the west of the Manzanares, a summer house previously owned by the Vargas family, and the creation of a garden there [No. 224]. Thirdly, Philip began the transformation of the untidy Plaza del Arrabal, ‘Suburb Square’, so called since it was outside the Arab walls, popular with converso Jewish traders (Jews formally converted to Christianity instead of leaving the country), into the grand place of marketing and ceremony known thereafter as the Plaza Mayor [Nos 64–70]. Fourthly, new works were begun on the Alcázar: both the royal stables and the Torre Dorada (golden tower) were given needle-like Flemish towers, covered by slate, which now became a feature of the city. A chapel was placed in the centre of the main patio. Apartments were given to the King to the west, the Queen to the east: an arrangement inspired by the Burgundian court etiquette introduced to Spain by the Emperor Charles V in 1548, whereby king and queen had separate households. Philip also continued what his father had begun at El Pardo, having told Gaspar de Vega in 1559 to cover its roof too with slate instead of old tiles, for safety reasons.


Philip’s main impact on the population of Madrid, however, was to oblige the small ‘Saracen’ population to convert to Christianity, or to leave for Africa. This unjust echo of the treatment of Jews two generations before was the consequence of the continuing war with the Turks in the Eastern Mediterranean and the internal war against the Moriscos in the Alpujarra mountains south of Granada. Some Muslims who converted to Christianity nevertheless lived on in Madrid, in what was described by an Italian traveller, Francesco Vendramiano, as an ‘incredible disgust’, though that did not prevent them, he said, from increasing in numbers and in wealth, since, he said, ‘all marry, never go to the wars and occupy themselves ceaselessly with money and commerce’*.


But if the King thought most of his monastery in the Sierra (and lived there a good deal), men dependent on the Court began to build extensively in Madrid. The population of the city soon doubled, mostly as a result of immigration from other cities of Castille. Industry, commerce and social life, continued to be centred upon Toledo and Sevilla. So did artistic life: Greco’s residence in imperial Toledo was not an eccentricity. But clerks, lawyers, officials, priests, monks and nuns gathered in Madrid. New private palaces (for example, the Casa de Siete Chimeneas, still standing in the Plaza del Rey) began to be built, particularly along the Calle Alcalá which assumed the generous shape that it has today – being for 200 years looked upon as the finest street in Europe [Nos 33–36]. Over a dozen new conventos were founded in, or outside, Madrid in Philip’s time, including some, such as the Augustinian convento of Recoletos, well outside the King’s attempt at new walls. Almost all were rough in architecture, with large orchards and gardens.


This was an important era in the history of Spain since it was then that Italian painters, such as Father de Urbino, the Carduchos, Zuccaro and Tibaldi, who were working on frescoes in the Escorial, began to transform Spanish art. They initiated an epoch when painters in Spain began to consider themselves, as they already did in Italy, as the companions of noblemen, not just as craftsmen producing visual propaganda for the Church. Travellers from northern Europe and Italy began to write about Madrid; these included Frenchmen such as the historian Brantôme, who wrote so admiringly of Spanish soldiers as they rode to the wars in Flanders in ‘insolent grace’. There were ambassadors from the Valois Court, such as Fourquevaux and Longlée, and Venetian diplomatists, such as Antonio Tiepolo and Tomaso Contarini. From Belgium there was Jehan Lhermite, the Flamand Henri Cock, and the abbot of Saint Vaast, Jehan Sarrazan. There was the Roman priest, Giovanni Confalonieri, and a nuncio extraordinary, Camillo Borghese, who perhaps took back with him to Rome the idea which he made into a Bull when he became Pope Paul V, that conventos with fewer than five brothers should be abandoned.


Philip III, who succeeded his father in 1598, confirmed the establishment of the Court in Madrid, despite the efforts of his first minister, the Duque de Lerma, to return the capital to Valladolid. After five years of that vain endeavour, the King went back to Madrid in 1606. It was admitted then, that, as the saying was, ‘Sólo Madrid es Corte: only Madrid is the Court’. Thereafter, for sixty years, under Philip III and his son Philip IV whose faces are immortal because of Velázquez’s inspired portraits of them, Madrid expanded even more. Builders and architects, carpenters and plasterers, tailors, hairdressers, domestic servants and men for hire, as well as place-hunters, playwrights, poets and painters crowded to the capital. Other Castillian cities such as Toledo, Alcalá, Segovia and Guadalajara diminished in both wealth and size. Noble families realized that they had to have a palace in Madrid if they were to have a chance of power; even of survival. Some of these palaces were immense: for example, that of Lerma, inherited in the next generation by the semi-royal Dukes of Medinaceli, on the edge of the Prado, described as resembling a small city of its own by Lady Holland, as it still seemed in the early nineteenth century [No. 103]. It can just be glimpsed in the illustration by Guesdon [see illustration section].


The largest new palace, however, was that built for Philip IV in the 1630s, the Palace of the Buen Retiro, opposite the Palacio de Medinaceli near the convento of San Jerónimo [Nos 129–135]. This was principally the work of the Court architect Juan Gómez de Mora (though the Italian Juan Bautista de Crescenzi played a big part). It was ordered by the King’s new ‘prime minister’ – the expression was used then – the Conde-Duque de Olivares, who believed that his monarch should have a palace as graceful as those which he had seen in his youth in Italy. Hence the use which he made of Italians such as Crescenzi and Cosimo Lotti, who was the inspiration of elaborate gardens and water jokes. The palace was partly built to impress on the citizenship of Madrid the grandeur of their ruler, who now had two splendid residences, both where the sun rose and where it set. (Of this palace, nothing survives today save the Salón de Reinos, the Hall of Realms, disguised now as the Museum of the Army, where some of Velázquez’s greatest paintings were panels; and the Casón, or ballroom, which, in the 1980s, housed the Prado’s collection of nineteenth-century Spanish paintings and Picasso’s Guernica.) But the gardens remain. Before the palace of Buen Retiro, the Paseos del Prado de San Jerónimo, de Recoletos and de Atocha also grew to look very like their modern shape: places for recreation, with trees and fountains to give shade in the hot summers [Nos 43–50].


Madrid’s population reached 175,000 by the mid-seventeenth century. This figure made it the fifth largest European capital, after Constantinople, Naples, London and Paris. The physical expansion was to the north or the south, since the two royal palaces limited growth on the east and west. The climate worsened. The woods around the sixteenth-century city were cut. Though Madrid remained dry, the weather seemed to alternate between cold winters and hot summers. Travellers often returned from Madrid to London or Paris with two proverbs on their lips: ‘three months of winter, nine of hell’ (tres meses de invierno, y nueve de infierno); and ‘the air of Madrid is so subtle that it kills a man but won’t blow out a candle’ (el aire de Madrid es tan sutil que a mata un hombre pero no apaga un candil). But others recalled the sharp, stimulating, clear air and the inexhaustible vitality of the underfed population which seemed to live in the streets.


The seventeenth century was a time of political stagnation for Spain. Philip IV himself dated the beginning of the national decline from the moment that his most successful general, Spiínola (commemorated by Velázquez – for the Hall of Realms – as the generous victor in his The Surrender of Breda) returned from Flanders in 1630. This decline was scarcely evident in Madrid. Philip IV’s reign continued to be a belle époque for painting, writing, theatre and architecture in the capital, as it also was for the Spanish Empire in the Americas, where, in addition to the building of churches, hundreds of monasteries and palaces, an administration was worked out for the continent, from California to Patagonia, which would give stability for 200 years. Plays flourished, particularly at the Palacio del Buen Retiro, intended not only as a worthy palace for a king but as a theatre for a monarch who looked on a theatrical production with ingenious sets as the greatest of human achievements. Cosimo Lotti inaugurated a great era of dramatic performances, whose climax was an aquatic masque, in which waves were caused artificially to break over the stage, while galleys were rowed majestically across it. Architecture was as ambitious. Thus under Philip III two famous still surviving conventos were built: that of the Encarnación [No. 185] and that of the Carboneras del Corpus Christi. The long reign of Philip IV inspired many substantial edifices. The Jesuits built their fine copy of the Gesú in Rome, the Colegio Imperial, with its great dome, the first in a city which became known for them. (This church became, after the expulsion of the Jesuits, the Cathedral of San Isidro [No. 192]). The Benedictines of Montserrat completed their equally splendid building in the Calle Ancha de San Bernardo. Smaller, but a baroque masterpiece all the same, San Antonio de los Portugueses was built in the heart of a then up-and-coming new quarter off the Calle de Fuencarral. Other religious buildings still to be seen which date from that epoch include the Chapel of San Isidro and the parish church of San Ginés, just off the Puerta del Sol. Surviving great palaces include those of the Duque de Uceda, now the Capitanía General, and the prison for noblemen, the Palacio de Santa Cruz (now – appropriately, it has been said – the Foreign Ministry [No. 146]). The town hall, the Casa de la Villa, was also built [No. 138]. The architects were mostly Spanish: Gómez de Mora being the favourite one in the early part of the century; while Fray Francisco Bautista, who designed both the Colegio Imperial and the Chapel of Cristo de los Dolores next to the convento of San Francisco, was probably the most imaginative.


A list of buildings does injustice to this ‘golden age’ since in the early seventeenth century artistic life flourished remarkably. Spain might be in ‘decline’ but this was the age of Velázquez, who commemorated it in painting not only the royal family [No. 169] but also the naturalistic figures in his Bodegones, of playwrights and poets such as Lope de Vega [No. 52], Calderón, Góngora and Tirso de Molina [No. 220], and novelists or satirists such as Quevedo [No. 46] and Cervantes. The residences of nearly all of these can at least approximately be still identified in the quarter of Madrid behind what is now the Palace Hotel (the successor to the Palacio de Medinaceli). It was then too that the low life of Madrid acquired that distinctive quality conveyed in the ‘picaresque’ novels. The life of Madrid became for the first time what it has remained, a mixture of the brilliant, the eccentric, the impoverished and the lively: ‘Madrid is still as your lordship left it,’ Lope de Vega wrote to a patron, the Duque de Sessa (Luis, the fifth Duque), ‘Prado, coaches, women, dust, executions, comedies, a lot of fruit – and very little money.’*


The King, however, could still find money: gold and silver from the Americas brought up by trains of mules from Andalusian ports, such as Seville or Sanlúcar de Barrameda. The work of the North American historian Earl Hamilton (who described how the import of the American treasure brought inflation) has made it hard for modern readers to realize just how beneficial these mule trains seemed at the time. They certainly produced enough to allow King Philip III to commission the then fashionable Giambologna in Florence to cast the fine equestrian sculpture of himself which, finished by that master’s pupil Pietro Tacca, stood for a long time in the garden of the Casa de Campo and since 1848 has been in the Plaza Mayor [Nos 64–71]. Philip IV also invited Rubens to decorate a hunting lodge, the Torre Parada, in the Pardo [No. 114]. On a visit in 1603 that painter had spoken of the ‘incredible incompetence and carelessness’ of Spanish painters. But in 1628 he was able to talk to the immensely talented young Velázquez, who had received his first royal commission in 1623. Philip also invited Pietro Tacca to make an ambitious equestrian sculpture of himself, with the horse rearing – a construction never before achieved [No. 130]. The statue was a good example of collaboration between Spain and Tuscany, since Velázquez sent a small painting of Philip – probably the one now in the Palazzo Pitti – to guide the sculptor. Galileo is said to have advised on the mathematics of weights. Tacca’s son and follower, Ferdinando, brought this work to Spain, for it to stand in the Palace of Buen Retiro before being moved in 1844 to its present site, facing the city, before the new Royal Palace in the Plaza de Oriente.


The seventeenth century was the time when the squares of the city, in which these and other statues and fountains stood, and stand, began to assume the character for which they are principally remembered: the Plaza Mayor was completed by Diego Sillera under Philip III, with its beautiful Panadería (bakery) on the north side [Nos 64–71]. It immediately began to be the stage for the trials of heretics (autos de fe); the burnings of those ‘relaxed’ by the Holy Office of the Inquisition were carried out by the ‘civil power’ outside the walls by the gate of Alcalá. The Puerta del Sol [Nos. 51–63] began to be the centre of Madrid life which it remained till the early twentieth century, with its popular fountain, the four-mouthed Mariblanca from which generations of madrileños drew water, and with the steps up to the now vanished church of San Felipe el Real converted into the gossip centre (mentidero) of the realm: Velázquez exhibited his first equestrian portrait of Philip IV there, to the general admiration. There was too the Plaza de la Cebada, for sales of grain and the start of the Madrid Feria [No. 81]; and the Plazas del Rastro (Cascorro) [No. 79] and de la Puerta Cerrada for general markets for everything else. Similarly, the two public theatres of Madrid, the Corral de la Cruz (on the site of the modern Calle Espoz y Mina) and the Corral del Príncipe (on the site of the still surviving Teatro Español) began their long careers (respectively in 1579 and 1583 [No. 209] in open courts or corrales (some of which can still be seen in summer), in competition with closed royal theatres in the Alcázar and the Buen Retiro. To these there was later added the Caños del Peral, or ‘the font of the Pear Tree’, since there was once such a conduit, close to the modern opera house. Finally, Philip IV, perhaps inspired by the visit of Charles, Prince of Wales in 1623, became a collector of paintings on an elaborate scale. He added over 2,000 pictures to the royal collection. If Prince Charles were indeed the inspiration of this passion, it was an unsung benefit of a most unsuccessful royal visit [Nos 7, 23, 45, 112, 224].


This new capital had, suitably, a new saint. There had previously been at Madrid’s service Our Lady of the Atocha, in the convento of that name [No. 187], Our Lady of Solitude (Soledad) in the Church of Vitoria, just off the Puerta del Sol, and Our Lady of La Almudena, in Santa María. Henceforward, there was also San Isidro, a labourer on the property of the Vargas family and parishioner of San Andrés, in the thirteenth century, who was canonized with his wife, Santa María de la Cabeza, in 1622 (the only example of a married couple becoming saints [No. 200]). The fiesta of San Isidro in a field outside Madrid in May (commemorated by Goya) has been the most lively of Madrid’s festivals from the seventeenth century onwards. The embalmed corpses of the two saints were sometimes brought from their place in San Andrés to try and revive dying royalties.


Northern Europeans have enjoyed themselves at the expense of the last Habsburg to reign in Madrid, Charles II. Macaulay’s lurid pictures of this monarch and his court have entertained, as he would himself have put it, ‘every schoolboy’, and it has had a considerable effect on the attitude of Anglo-Saxons towards Spain. Much of his detail (for example his portrait of Cardinal Portocarrero) is, however, invention. The King on the other hand was indeed a freak, the descendant of incestuous intermarriages over generations and incapable of government, nearly illiterate, impotent and, therefore, childless. Worries over the succession dominated the time. Superstition was rife. Fears of witchcraft and of poisoners did preoccupy the Court. Even so, Madrid continued to see the construction of buildings of outstanding quality; for example, the elaborate, still-fashionable church of Las Calatravas in the Alcalá; the chapel of the Third Order next to the Convento de San Francisco; and the great church of the Comendadoras of Santiago, a masterpiece of the del Olmo brothers. In this last, banners mark victories of the order of Santiago during the Reconquista – Sanlúcar, 1266; Teba, 1328, where the Black Douglas threw forward the heart of Robert the Bruce and died in retrieving it – and give the modern visitor a sudden whiff of the Middle Ages. The Puente de Segovia, put up in the 1680s by Valenzuela, the favourite of the Queen Regent Mariana, was mocked. The wife of the French Ambassador, the witty Marquise de Villars, said that it would have done well over the Rhine; she advised Spain either to sell the bridge or buy a river [Nos 221–222]. All the same, it survives. Nor should the great fiestas of the Carnival [No. 196], the Burial of the Sardine (on Ash Wednesday), Holy Week [Nos. 197–198], Corpus Christi [No. 202], and the local parish fiestas, be dismissed, as they sometimes still are by Anglo-Saxons, as mumbo-jumbo. ‘The Carnival’, Baroja wrote later, ‘has obviously a panicky and subversive basis and one understands that governments look on it with antipathy. The Carnival demands a certain grace and imagination . . . In contrast the public at a bull-fight or a football match does not have to display any imagination: it is a public mass of spectators.’* These ceremonies played an important part in offering the opportunity for participation to an impoverished population (pace Richard Ford [No. 200]). It would seem that Protestantism was the poorer without them. ‘En vérité’, Mérimée wrote 150 years later, ‘j’aime ces cérémonies catholiques et je voudrais croire.’* The self-avowed atheist had his heart turned. Yet he allowed himself to forget that once among the most magnificent of the processions were those organized by the Inquisition [Nos 66 and 68].
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Charles II did in the end die, leaving Europe to dispute his vast inheritance. The result was the War of the Spanish Succession whose consequence, in turn, was, ultimately, despite the first occupation of Madrid by foreign troops [Nos 9 and 10] and the efforts of Marlborough and of English historians to deceive themselves on the matter, a French triumph. Bourbons reigned in most of the old Spanish Habsburg dominions outside Italy and Belgium, except for Gibraltar and Minorca. Even Naples and Sicily returned to Bourbon rule after 1735.


The new King Philip V, Louis XIV’s grandson, brought new ideas, architects and painters from both France and Italy (both Philip’s wives, María Luisa of Savoy and Elizabeth Farnese, were powerful Italian influences). The new royal family busied themselves giving Madrid a modern classical carapace. Old churches received new façades. When, with the mute satisfaction of the monarch, the Alcázar burned down in 1734, a colossal classical edifice in Italian style was raised to replace it. A master plan was first conceived by the Sicilian-Piedmontese Filippo Juvarra, architect of the Palazzo Stupinigi outside Turin. After his death, a much modified version was carried through by his pupil, Giovanni Bautista Sacchetti [Nos 119–128]. Despite the loss of many famous paintings (for example Velázquez’s first equestrian painting of Philip IV), and damage to many others, the Bourbons were glad of this opportunity to build anew. The old palace, with its memories of the imprisonment of François I and the mysterious deaths of two enchanting French Queens, Elizabeth [No. 110] and María Luisa [No. 117], seemed a gloomy pile to anyone coming from France.


In the eighteenth century some new religious buildings were added to the skyline of Madrid: among those still to be seen are the large and impressive San Cayetano, half-destroyed, like so many in that quarter, during the Civil War of 1936–39; the Sacramento (now the well-kept church of the military chaplains); and, above all, the great dome of San Francisco. The latter appeared so elegant, as well as so grand, that it was proposed to make it the cathedral of Madrid: an idea dismissed because of its geographical position as well as the continued opposition of Toledo. But these clerical edifices were not typical of the age.


What a delightful world eighteenth-century Madrid was for those who, like Beaumarchais, in Spain for reasons as complicated as the plots of any of his plays, with his ‘intarissable belle humeu’, as he himself put it, could enjoy its ‘soupers charmants’ or its gambling [No. 173]. Did he really pass on his exquisite lady, Madame de la Croix, to King Charles himself? Who can say?


Since, after all, as a seguidilla, which he quotes in a letter to his father, has it:




The vows


Of lovers


Are light as the wind.


Their enchanting air,


Their sweetnesses


Are deceiving traps


Hidden under flowers.*





Such ‘soupers’ might be held at one or other of the new noblemen’s palaces, built for ostentation not protection, such as those of Miraflores or Grimaldi, Liria or Torrecilla, Perales or, the grandest of all, the Palacio de Buenavista, embarked upon in the 1790s by the Duques de Alba on property which they had recently bought on the corner of the Calles Alcalá and Barquillo [No. 99]. This still-extant edifice was later sold to Godoy and afterwards, till 1982, much enlarged, it was the seat of the Ministry of War or of Defence.


The most characteristic eighteenth-century buildings were, however, institutions of enlightenment, particularly those built during the reign of Charles III in the second half of the century: the Observatory; Villanueva’s Museum of Natural History (in which the Museum of the Prado was later housed [No. 142–145]); the Hospice of San Fernando, a foundling hospital (now the Museo Municipal); the Post Office, in the Puerta del Sol (now the seat of the Autonomous Government of Madrid); the barracks of the Conde-Duque, to house the King’s bodyguards; the Academia de Bellas Artes in the Palacio Goyeneche, built by Churriguera; and the Custom House (Aduana), now the Treasury, designed by the Italian Francesco Sabatini, next door in the Alcalá. Thirty-two new schools were opened by Charles III in Madrid alone. The first modern bull-ring, specially designed for the increasingly popular spectacle of bull-fighting, was built outside the Puerta de Alcalá in 1749 [No. 206], though the fiesta nacional. continued too in the Plaza Mayor on special occasions [No. 71].


The inspiration of this modernization was King Charles III, ‘Madrid’s best mayor’. The Infanta Eulalia, returning with her brother King Alfonso XII, in the Restoration of 1875, remarked that everything in the capital ‘seemed’ to have been built by Charles III [No. 127]. The exaggeration had an element of truth. Even the Royal Lottery was begun by some of Charles’s Neapolitan friends – Charles had been an equally enlightened King of Naples before becoming King of Spain on succession to his brother in 1759. He was a patient, cold, hardworking monarch, who knew how to profit from the advice of able ministers, such as the Condes de Aranda or Floridablanca [No. 171]. He kept fit by hunting every day (shooting, as the English would call most of it) for, as he said, ‘Rain breaks no bones.’


Sewerage was introduced in the 1760s. So was street lighting, having been previously non-existent save for a few lanterns behind sacred images at street corners. Houses began to be numbered, though only, most confusingly, by blocks (manzanas). Systematic paving of streets was introduced. So was cleaning of streets and the regular collection of rubbish [No. 25]. (Before this, rubbish could always be thrown out of the window at night provided the warning, ‘Agua va’, ‘water on the way’, was given.) Excrement was not supposed to be thrown in places where there were crosses: an instruction of which Quevedo made fun by saying that crosses were being purposely placed at spots where he defecated. Flagellation in religious processions was banned in 1777. Nightwatchmen (serenos) were brought in from Valencia (the level of street crime fell sharply [No. 30]). A new line of walls, still mostly adobe, was laid out and several new stone gates built. The Jesuits were expelled in 1767 on the suspicion of wishing to build, like the Templars in the fourteenth century, a state within a State. The gardens of the Prado, used since the sixteenth century as a place to walk, were formally reconstituted as the ‘Salón del Prado’ by the architect Villanueva and the painter José de Hermosilla. The shape of the ‘Salón’ was supposed to reflect the hippodromic Piazza Navona in Rome. Part of the gardens of the Palace of Buen Retiro was opened to the public after the King moved from thence to the newly finished Royal Palace in the west of Madrid in 1767. This opening was subject to rules: men were not to wear capes, nor women mantillas. Similar regulations applied to the nearby Botanical Gardens, another inspiration of Charles III, which opened their gates in 1781.


These petty rules had a rational basis. The rate of crime in Madrid was high. The use of ground-length capes by men of all classes – itself justified by the dirt in Madrid – meant that it was easy to conceal one’s identity during an act of robbery. Another side to the affair was a long-standing controversy over the merits of traditional Spanish dress (traje de golilla, or dress with cardboard neck-piece, breeches, and large hat, chambergo) or the new French styles brought by the Bourbons in 1713.


The arguments over the use of capes came to a head in some extraordinary events in 1766. King Charles had an unpopular Italian minister, the Marqués de Esquilache, who lived in the Casa de Siete Chimeneas. He decided that, since the streets were becoming cleaner, the long cape had no justification. He banned it, along with the chambergo. Tailors were appointed by the state to stand in doorways with orders to cut off the extra cloth from the capes of those who defied the decree. The aim was to cut crime rates further (see Zarba’s lithograph, illustration section).


This aroused a patriotic and popular outcry against modernization of all sorts, but in particular against ‘French ways’. There had before been much irritation over the alleged influence of French queens and shopkeepers. In the seventeenth century, dandified gentlemen who looked as if they were foreigners had sometimes been seized by madrileños and asked to pronounce ajo (garlic) and cebolla (onion): if they could not, they were beaten for the crime of being French. In the 1680s, at least one genuine madrileño was ill-treated by a crowd who found a French jacket among his clothes when he was bathing on the River Manazanares.


This so-called ‘Motín de Esquilache’, riot against Squillace, passed off harmlessly. The King abandoned the minister. The decree was rescinded. But there were ugly overtones. Popular hostility to modernization, if that could be identified with France, or ‘Anti-España’ (Anti-Spain), played a large part in Spain’s subsequent history. It was related to the popular support for anti-semitism in the fifteenth century and to the anti-modernist revolt of the Comuneros in the sixteenth. Thereafter the King and his ministers moved more cautiously. They did not, for example, carry through a plan to take cemeteries, in the interests of cleanliness, away from the precincts of churches to the suburbs. There was also a public outcry when a later minister proposed the introduction of shoe-cleaners in the streets. That idea was also held to come from the ‘Gabachos’ (a nickname for the French pilgrims on the way to Santiago).


No such dramas affected one other typical manifestation of Madrid life of that time, the fan, which all women, even the poorest, used in innumerable ways, more elaborate than elsewhere in Europe, to indicate a vast variety of hopes, desires and hesitations, not just to keep themselves cool – a descendant of the courtly sign language developed in the seventeenth century. Queen Elizabeth Farnese had 1,600 fans (of which a selection is now shown in the Royal Palace). It was not a new fashion: there is a lady with a fan on an ivory casket made in the eleventh century, in the cathedral of Pamplona. Sennacherib had fans in Babylon. Nor was it specially Spanish: many of the fans sold as ‘Spanish’ were in fact made in France. But the fashion for the painted, folding fan (invented in Japan) had its heyday in Madrid in the late eighteenth century. Its use only declined in the twentieth century, when madrileñas began to smoke cigarettes heavily [No. 48].


If the King was the reformer of eighteenth-century Madrid, the best memorialist was Goya. This great painter, an immigrant, like so many others who have adorned Madrid, of Aragonese origin, could, due to his genius, move among every class: patronized by the King and Court, comfortable in the circles of the rival duchesses of Alba and Osuna (their rivalry was chiefly seen in their support for different actresses and bull-fighters [Nos 206, 226]), Goya also knew well the world of the majos and majas, and that of the bathers and picnickers along the River Manzanares. His letters show something of his personality, though less than a busybody from the twentieth century would like [No. 179].
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The disadvantage of absolute monarchy is its reliance on the individual qualities of the kings. Charles III’s son and successor, Charles IV, if less inadequate than Charles II, could not ride the whirlwind brought to Europe by the French Revolution. He, his Queen, and his prime minister Godoy, as well as the gay world of rival duchesses and their favourite bull-fighters, were swept away in the extraordinary events of 1808. The King was first persuaded to resign by Napoleon. A French army under Murat moved to occupy Madrid. There was a popular rising: it should have been no surprise to those who had observed the Motín of Squillace and a similar riot, six weeks before, at the royal country palace of Aranjuez, against Godoy. There was a famous clash between the French and the madrileños in the Puerta del Sol, immortalized by Goya in his The Second of May, 1808 [Nos 55 and 56]. There was even fighting in the charming paseo of the Prado. The French later established their headquarters in, of all places, the porcelain factory in the Parque del Buen Retiro (approximately where there is now the glorieta del Ángel caído, the crossroads of the fallen angel). (French intelligence later successfully spread the canard that this factory was destroyed by the money-grubbing English to prevent competition in chinaware!) Summary executions took place on the hill of Príncipe Pío, on the site of the modern Parque de la Montaña (in the early twentieth century a barracks famous during the Civil War). Goya’s representation of those shootings, The Third of May, 1808, brilliantly captured the moment.


After some reverses and withdrawals, Napoleon led his army to Madrid [Nos 72–75] at the end of the year. Did he really say, when he reached the Royal Palace on his single day’s drive round the capital, ‘Enfin je l’ai, cette Espagne si désirée’? And did he really tell his brother ‘Vous êtes mieux logés que moi’ at the sight of the Palace? At all events, the reign of King Joseph Bonaparte was tumultuous [Nos 192, 225]. As a result of the victories of the Duke of Wellington, King Charles IV’s son Ferdinand, known in what soon seemed golden days before 1808 as the Príncipe de Asturias (this title is the Spanish equivalent of the Prince of Wales), returned as King in 1814. On the suggestion of his second (Portuguese) Queen, Isabel de Braganza, he opened Madrid’s most famous building, the Museo del Prado, to show to the public the paintings which his ancestors had collected.


All the same, nothing was the same as it had been before. The Empire collapsed; although a rich ‘uncle in America’ was a familiar figure in the life of Madrid for over another hundred years: for example, Agustín Caballero in Pérez Galdós’s novel Tormento; or that elder brother in Antonio Machado’s haunting early poem ‘El Viajero’, a figure ‘familiar yet unknown’, sitting, after years abroad, with his sienes plateadas, silvered temples, in the old kitchen. Even chocolate, the popular drink of Madrid in the eighteenth century, gave way to French coffee. The army of la Gloire left behind a regrettable taste for white bread, in Spain as elsewhere. Other traditional foods, such as the famous old stews (ollas and pucheros), began to be substituted for by French dishes. Some typical Spanish drinks such as hipocrás (red wine mulled with cinnamon) or rosolí (cane brandy, cinnamon and sugar) also lost their popularity. The behaviour of the French soldiery in Spain between 1808 and 1814 was as atrocious as their leaders were arrogant: ‘la journée d’hier a donné l’Espagne à l’Empereur’, Murat is supposed to have said after the explosion and executions of 2 May 1808 (though the letter quoted here gives a less strident wording: [No. 56]). It seemed an absurd remark, indicating a general suffering from folie de petit grandeur. All the same, there is a sense in which, stylistically, it was true. For the tone of the nineteenth century in Madrid was given by Joseph Bonaparte. A reluctant monarch, ‘el rey intruso’ imposed on Spain by his brother Napoleon, he started the clearance of small streets in front of the Royal Palace to begin the handsome Plaza de Oriente (he was given the nickname el Rey de Plazuelas, as well as Pepe Botellas – not because he drank but because he freed alcohol from crippling taxes). Really preferring a ‘terre en Toscane’ to a throne in Spain, he brought a certain idea of liberty which Spain never forgot. At the same time, the brutal war which his brother fought led to the habit of undisciplined banditry, of smuggling and of taking to the hills (‘echarse al monte’) which had most destructive consequences. I have even heard Spanish people say that these wars led to national laziness, since so many people abandoned cultivation for robbery.


So far as legislation is concerned, the restored Bourbons continued what Bonaparte began. When, eventually, a constitutional Liberal government, inspired by French ideas, gained power in 1835, it embarked on the confiscation and sale of church lands. It was the most significant event of the century. In an apparent desire to remove from the city all trace of the Middle Ages, many landmarks vanished: even, at the end of the century, the old Santa María de la Almudena; even the three popular churches round the Puerta del Sol (San Felipe, loved for gossip; Soledad, known for lovers’ trysts; and the hospital-convento of Buen Suceso, behind the life-giving Mariblanca fountain). The Palace of the Buen Retiro was, reasonably enough perhaps, also judged too ruined to be restored after the French occupation of its park. The site became a fashionable barrio. Many conventos, such as that of the Augustinians in the Recoletos, gave way to palaces, ministries, museums or apartment blocks. A new parliament, the Cortes Españolas [Nos 139 and 140], was in 1843 built by the fashionable architect of the day, Narciso Pascual y Colomer, on the site of the ruined Convento del Espíritu Santo (it was wrecked by fire in 1823 when the Duc d’Angoulême, the commander of the French army of occupation, was at mass). The Inquisition was wound up in 1820: only one man, it is fair to say, was discovered in its prisons in the Calle Isabel La Católica at the time.
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The nineteenth century saw another burst in the size of Madrid’s population. In 1825 there were 200,000 madrileños; by 1875 over 300,000; by 1900 over 500,000*. Railways encouraged this growth after 1850. Vast new residential districts were created. Some of those, like the Salamanca district (called after its planner, the Marqués of that name, a man who resembled the Count of Monte Cristo in the turbulations of his career, and a statue of whom stands in the glorieta called after him) and the Argüelles district, became fashionable. Others, such as that in the north (Chamberí), became new centres of lively working-class life, based on new immigration. In 1911, the much discussed Gran Vía began to be crashed through the north of the old centre, in belated homage to Paris’s Baron Haussmann, destroying a lively community around such streets as Calle Desengaño (where Goya had once lived) and the quartier described by Señora Pipaón de la Barca [No. 31] as well as some very slummy places. The new buildings along the Gran Vía (such as Ignacio de Cárdenas’s Telefónica, taller than any church, of the late 1920s) gave a South American feel to the centre of the city, just as General Primo de Rivera gave a South American style to Spanish politics. The University was moved from the Calle Ancha de San Bernardino to the North American-style university city among the gardens and woods to the north-west of Madrid, where the mother of the Duquesa de Alba of Goya’s day had built a retreat, or ‘palacete’, which was destroyed in the fighting during the most recent civil war. The move was much regretted by those who loved the old countryside [No. 80].


These extravagances left untouched Madrid’s brilliant café life round the Puerta del Sol (cafés portasoleños) and the Calle Alcalá [No. 59]. The characteristic of this era in Madrid was the regularity with which people would in the evening repair to the same place, day after day, and hold court in a ‘tertulia’: thus in the 1920s you could meet the playwright Benavente in the Café del Comercio, the politician Melquíades Álvarez (murdered in the Civil War) in El Oriental, the novelist Gómez de la Serna in the Café Pombo, and the biologist Ramón y Cajal in El Suizo [No. 95], while many writers would go after midnight to the Café Fornos [No. 94] in the Calle Alcalá, the café which the historian of Madrid’s streets, Pedro de Répide, described as the most typical of all (‘madrileñísimo’). During the summer, the gardens of the Buen Retiro were the site of tertulias of aristocrats, as well as of the literary world [No. 135]. The northern part of the site was, however, built upon between 1904 and 1918 for the overbearing new post office (Palacio de Comunicaciones) of Joaquín Palacios.


Throughout the nineteenth century, travellers from northern Europe had been wont to visit Spain in search of the exotic. Théophile Gautier’s Voyage en Espagne in the 1840s began a new taste for Spanish painting. Prosper Mérimée ten years before had gathered impressions which he converted into the most famous of all Spanish stories, Carmen, published in Paris in 1847 and turned into an opera by Bizet (who never saw any need to visit Spain) in 1875. This was the heyday too of the English traveller: in Mérimée’s Carmen, there is a note explaining that ‘en Espagne, tout voyageur qui ne porte pas avec lui des enchantillons de calicot ou de soieries passe pour un Anglais’. (The gastronomically minded will recall that in Carmen the gypsies of Andalusia nicknamed the English of Gibraltar ‘écrevisses’, crayfish, because of the colour of their uniforms.) The best-known English traveller was Richard Ford, a gifted and learned man who wrote a very influential, if often misleading and mischievous, Handbook to Spain for the publisher John Murray. He hated the Catholic church and had no time for Madrid, being drawn to Andalusia. Like most people, I have enjoyed Ford’s brilliant, mocking, learned, superior prose. That makes me even more pleased that I have lived into a time when his famous condescending injunction, ‘Attend to the Provend’, is a more appropriate one to a traveller in East Anglia than to one in Andalusia.


The political life of Spain after 1814 was turbulent. That partly accounted for Ford’s disdain. Revolutions occurred often, usually coming to a head in the Puerta del Sol which, after the old post office had been made in 1854 into the Ministry of the Interior, was looked upon as the key to the kingdom. The great novelist of Madrid, Benito Pérez Galdós, remarked, in a well-known phrase, that the Spaniard ‘left home’ politically in 1808 and had ‘not yet found his way home’. By the time that he wrote that in the 1910s, there had been two major civil wars (the first and the second Carlist wars, 1834–40 and 1870–75) and countless coup d’états (pronunciamientos). The monarchy had been overthrown in 1868, substituted for by Amadeo of Savoy, cousin of the King of Italy, who himself had given way to a Republic. The Bourbons had then been restored in 1875, in the person of the young Alfonso XII.
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